Health Scrutiny Committee

Minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2020

Present:

Councillor Farrell – in the Chair

Councillors N. Ali, Clay, Curley, Holt, Mary Monaghan, Newman, O'Neil, Riasat and Wills

Apologies:

Also present:

Councillor Craig, Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing Councillor Ilyas, Assistant Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing Nick Gomm, Director of Corporate Affairs, Manchester Health and Care Commissioning

Mark Edwards, Chief Operating Officer, Manchester Local Care Organisation Vicky Isaac, Manager, Manchester Community Response

Dr Jane Eddleston, Medical Director, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust Sophie Hargreaves, Director of Strategy, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust

HSC/20/14 Urgent Business – Coronavirus Update

The Chair introduced an item of urgent business by inviting the Director of Population Health to provide an update on Coronavirus.

The Director of Population Health informed the Committee that it was an emerging situation and at this time he could report the Government had issued an action plan that morning, following the emergency Cobra committee meeting, held Monday 2 March 2020. He described that the current approach to the virus was containment and delay, noting that the UK was in the containment stage of management with people being advised to regularly wash their hands and to catch it, bin it, kill it (sneeze/cough into tissue then put in bin) with a national public health campaign to be rolled out. He described that if the status was escalated to delay, measures such as self-isolation, social distancing and working from home would be introduced to protect vulnerable groups.

The Director of Population Health advised that if the UK was required to go into the mitigation stage the proposal was for legislation to be introduced that would allow for additional measures to be implemented to mitigate the risk of infection, such as closing schools and cancelling large scale events. He stated that currently the World Health Organisation was not classifying Coronavirus as a pandemic, however it was an imminent Public Health emergency, commenting that 14000 people had been tested nationally with 40 positive results identified, with one case being recently diagnosed in Greater Manchester (GM).

The Director of Population Health informed the Members that the Manchester Locality Planning Group were meeting regularly to monitor the emerging situation

and reviewing key actions and this activity would continue to be reported to the local Health and Wellbeing Board and at a GM level. He stated that information and updates would also be cascaded to Members. He described that the local response would include mobilising staff to implement community testing services. He further described that policies and practices were in place at the airport site to monitor arrivals from identified countries.

The Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing stated that it was important at this time to listen to the advice of health experts and communicate information in a responsible and honest manner to avoid misinformation. She further stated that if Members had specific questions or concerns they should contact her directly.

Members thanked the Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing and the Director of Population Health for providing the update. Members further paid tribute to all of the staff working in the delivery of health services.

Decision

To note the update.

HSC/20/15 Minutes

Decision

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2020 as a correct record.

HSC/20/16 Update on the mobilisation of Manchester Community Response

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Adult Social Care, Manchester City Council and the Chief Operating Officer, Manchester Local Care Organisation (MLCO) that provided an update on the work of health and social care staff in the Manchester Community Response (MCR) services.

Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report which included: -

- Providing an introduction and background to the MCR;
- Describing the overarching aims of the MCR;
- Providing a description of the teams that comprised the MCR;
- · Describing what the MCR aimed to deliver;
- The MCR and MLCO operating model;
- Data on the number of avoided admissions to hospital as a result of the MCR; and
- Case studies.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were: -

 Welcoming the introduction of integrated teams and the positive outcomes this had delivered for residents of Manchester.

- Did teams experience challenges in regard to recruiting to post and stability of teams to deliver continuity of care;
- The importance of recognising and responding to the wider determinants of health;
- What were the challenges to patient discharge from hospital;
- How many patients that were discharged from hospital readmitted;
- Did the pressures experienced by Accident and Emergency Departments at hospitals influence the decision to discharge patients;
- Were the financial savings achieved by avoiding unnecessary patient admissions to hospital calculated and reported; and
- Was the Crisis Response service restricted to the number of hours they would engage with a patient.

In response to the above comments and questions officers informed the Committee that the wider determinants of health were understood and the establishment of multidisciplinary teams allowed for services to work together and make appropriate referrals to best meet the health needs of residents and avoid escalation and unnecessary hospital admission, as it was recognised that people had better outcomes if they could be supported to remain in their homes. The Chief Operating Officer, Manchester Local Care Organisation stated that the financial savings were calculated and reported.

In response to the question raised regarding barriers to discharging patients from hospital, the Director of Adult Social Care stated that they continued to work with acute settings to ensure that people were discharged, once medically optimised, to their home or other place of residence rather than remaining in hospital. The Chief Operating Officer, Manchester Local Care Organisation further stated that the pressures experienced at Accident and Emergency Departments did not influence the decision to discharge patients and free beds. He stated that alternative bed managements practices would be implemented, such as cancelling elective surgery. He further commented that people still attended Accident and Emergency Departments when other sources of assistance, such as General Practice or Pharmacy's would be more appropriate and this resulted in additional pressures across Accident and Emergency Departments. In response to the specific question regarding the rates of re-admittance following discharge he advised that the analysis of this would be circulated following the meeting.

In response the question asked regarding the number of hours a person would receive the Crisis Response service, the Manager, Manchester Community Response stated that they would support the person as long as was required. She further commented that whilst teams had experienced challenges in regard to recruitment to posts, this was a national issue. She described that teams worked together and shared care plans to ensure a continuity of care was maintained.

Decision

To note the report.

HSC/20/17 Health Equity: The Marmot Review 10 Years On

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Population Health that summarised the key messages from the 'The Marmot Review – 10 Years On' that was published on 25 February 2020'. It further provided an initial assessment of how plans, programmes and activities in Manchester relate to the key recommendations contained in the review report.

The Director of Population Health referred to the main points and themes within the report which included: -

- Providing an introduction and background to the six priority objectives identified by Sir Michael Marmot in his report published February 2010 entitled 'Fair Society Healthy Lives';
- Detailing the key messages from the review that were presented to a national conference on 25 February 2020;
- Describing the work of the Manchester Public Health Team to respond to the recommendations.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were: -

- The report presented the political choices that had been taken over the previous years;
- Noting that the Black Report, published in 1980 had reported similar conclusions regarding the link between social and economic factors and health outcomes;
- The report represented a failure by Government to adequately fund the National Health Service and Adult Social Care (ASC), noting that current indications suggested that future ASC budgets would be reduced;
- Noting the impact of austerity on people's mental health;
- Expressing concern that the data that reported that among women in the most deprived 10 percent of areas, life expectancy fell between 2010-12 and 2016-18;
- Noting the response in Manchester to protect the most vulnerable residents; and
- All Scrutiny Committees needed to understand and consider the wider determinants of health.

The Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing stated that the reports demonstrated the direct link between austerity and health outcomes and life expectancy. She stated the report clearly identified and recognised the wider determinants of health and commented that health was a social justice issue and she called for adequate funding from the Government. She stated that despite the continued budget cuts, Manchester had responded by adopting policies, such as the Family Poverty Strategy, to protect the most vulnerable residents. She further commented that mental health was not an isolated issue, and needed to be understood in a wider social and economic context, and mental health had the same parity of esteem with physical health in Manchester. She described that a whole system approach was required and the Council needed to consider health when making all decisions and adopting policies, including planning, licensing and housing. The Chair recommended that he would speak on this issue at Council when he was invited by the Mayor to move the minutes.

In response to the population health data released in December 2019 the Director of

Population Health stated that he hoped to see continued improvements in the data. He stated that local data would also assist with identifying any groups or communities that required further or additional health interventions. The Executive Member for Adults, Health and Wellbeing suggested that Committee may wish to schedule a report on inclusive health when Members met to consider the work programme in the new municipal year. Members noted that the recommendations indicated that a national response was required, however expressed reservations that those would not happen. The Director of Population Health commented that these would require national policy changes.

The Director of Population Health informed the Committee that the Chief Executive of Manchester City Council, Joanne Roney, was a member of the National Advisory Group for the review and had played a leading role in bringing the Marmot Review Team to work with partners in Greater Manchester (GM), adding that Greater Manchester had been a designated Marmot City Region. He described that work would continue to influence wider GM policies and this in turn would inform the ask of government from the city region.

A Member recommended that the Committee should receive an annual update on the work to address the findings of the review. The Director of Population Health stated that this could be addressed through the annual population health update report.

Decisions

The Committee;

- 1. Note the report; and
- 2. Recommend that the Chair, when invited by the Mayor to move the minutes at the next meeting of Council, address Council and emphasise the importance of considering health when making all decisions and adopting policies.

HSC/20/18 Manchester Foundation Trust Clinical Service Strategy Programme Update

The Committee considered a report of the Group Medical Director and Director of Strategy that described that Manchester University Foundation Trust was created in 2017 following the merger of Central Manchester Foundation Trust and University Hospital South Manchester Foundation Trust and Clinical teams and services across the hospital sites had now been integrated. The report further provided an update on this work and to outline some of the proposals the merged clinical teams had identified to improve services further.

The report authors referred to the main points and themes within the report which included: -

- Information on the Single Hospital Service;
- An update on what had been achieved following the merger;

- Examples of improvements realised pose merger;
- An overview of the Clinical Service Strategy Programme;
- Information on the engagement undertaken during the development of the strategy;
- Information on patient engagement and equality impact assessment; and
- Next steps.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were: -

- What was the relationship between Healthier Together and the Single Hospital Service (SHS);
- What were the management arrangements at North Manchester General Hospital (NMGH) to prepare for the absorption into the Manchester SHS;
- Were patient records accessible across the different sites; and
- An update was requested on the seven day service at the hospital sites.

Dr Eddleston stated that the Healthier Together decision had been taken into consideration when designing the SHS and that the SHS model was informed by sound clinical rationale.

In response to questions regarding NMGH, Dr Eddleston stated that an effective senior management team had been established at the site, pending the transfer of NMGH into the SHS. The Chair commented that he had experienced improvements with the leadership team at the site, noting that they had driven improvements at the hospital and demonstrated local accountability. Dr Eddleston welcomed these comments and added that this had also proven positive for the staff working at NMGH by providing leadership to deliver improved services for the benefit of local residents.

In response to the question asked regarding patient records, Dr Eddleston stated that across the SHS patients had a unique patient identifier so that records could be accessed across all sites. She stated that the intention was to introduce a system by September 2022 that allowed patients to access their own records and provide patients with certain functionalities, such as booking and amending appointments.

Dr Eddleston confirmed that clinical services were delivered seven days a week.

Decision

To note the report and recommend that an update report is submitted for consideration at an appropriate time.

HSC/20/19 Overview Report

A report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit which contained key decisions within the Committee's remit and responses to previous recommendations was submitted for comment. Members were also invited to agree the Committee's future work programme.

Decision

To note the report and approve the work programme.

Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee

Minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2020

Present:

Councillor Hacking - In the Chair Councillors Chambers, Collins, M Dar, Evans, Grimshaw, Hitchen, Kirkpatrick and Rawson

Also present:

Councillor Akbar, Executive Member for Neighbourhoods Councillor Craig, Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing Councillor Rahman, Executive Member for Skills, Culture and Leisure Mike Wild, Macc Martin Preston, Macc

Apologies:

Councillors Douglas and Rawlins

CESC/20/15 Minutes

Decision

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2020 as a correct record.

CESC/20/16 Review of Advice Services in Manchester - Final Report and Recommendations

The Committee received a report of the Review of Advice Services in Manchester Task and Finish Group which presented the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the Review of Advice Services in Manchester Task and Finish Group. The Task and Finish Group had been established to consider the availability of advice services across the city, with a view to producing recommendations to be considered in the budget in the next financial year.

The Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing thanked the Members of the Task and Finish Group and other stakeholders who had contributed to this work, advising that it had been a helpful process and that the recommendations were useful and achievable. She proposed that, if the Committee endorsed the recommendations in the report, she and relevant officers could bring a report to a future meeting which outlined their response to the recommendations. She informed Members of work which had already commenced in relation to the recommendations, including work to provide ward-level information on available advice services, work to provide additional training for frontline staff, including library staff, discussions taking place with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and consideration of options for out of hours advice provision. She also informed the Committee about resources for and work to improve the provision of advice services in relation to homelessness and the

prevention of homelessness and also for asylum seekers, refugees and people with no recourse to public funds.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were:

- Request for more information on proposals for out of hours advice provision, noting that if telephone advice was to be made available through libraries, privacy was important;
- That RSLs should have a greater input, including a financial contribution, to the provision of advice services and a suggestion that RSLs could commission the Council to provide advice services, noting that the Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing agreed to raise this through the Housing Providers Forum:
- The importance of having a pro-active approach to addressing debt, for example improving people's understanding of interest rates and raising awareness of issues relating to rent-to-own companies such as BrightHouse which charged high interest rates to low-income families;
- That this work should include consideration of the role RSLs could play in early intervention and that this could include a standard approach to providing support to tenants who were falling behind in their rent; and
- Concern that some tenants in overcrowded accommodation were deprioritised for alternative accommodation because of their rent arrears and to ask that consideration be given to how households in this situation could be helped.

Decisions

- 1. To note the findings of the Task and Finish Group and endorse the recommendations as set out in the report.
- 2. To submit the recommendations to the Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing and the recently-established multi agency Advice Forum for their consideration.
- 3. To request that the Committee receive a report in approximately six months' time which updates Members on actions being taken in response to the recommendations.
- 4. To request that the Executive Member for Adult Health and Wellbeing additionally consider the issues that Members have raised at this meeting and that a response to these also be included in the report.

CESC/20/17 Review of Council's Processes - Accessibility for Disabled People

The Committee received a report of the City Solicitor which set out the intended approach for a review of how the Council engaged with disabled residents, to act upon the Council's previously stated commitment to embed disability inclusion and

accessibility considerations in the design and development of Manchester's capital and public realm projects.

The report stated that embedding effective processes for accessibility for disabled people would ensure that Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) would recognise that climate change might have differential and unique impacts on disabled people's communities across the city, for example in terms of poor air quality, more frequent incidences of extreme weather and initiatives to reduce car journeys or the use of plastics.

The Chair outlined the context within which the report was requested, noting the desire to learn from and rectify the issues which had become apparent when an inaccessible design for the Peterloo Memorial was approved.

Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report which included:

- Review of engagement mechanisms with disabled residents;
- Internal engagement;
- External research and engagement;
- Inclusive design round table;
- Outcomes and scope;
- · Proposed timescales; and
- Communication.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were:

- To welcome this review and to recognise the contribution of the Lead Member for Disability in this work;
- That the timescale for this work seemed long and what were the reasons for this:
- How the Council would ensure that partners, such as companies contracted to undertake building work, aligned with the Council's policies;
- Whether some of the work taking place in Manchester could in future be expanded across Greater Manchester; and
- Concern that there was a shortage of accessible housing for disabled people and to ask what data was available on future need and what could be done to plan for this.

The Director of Policy, Performance and Reform reported that the timescales had been set to allow time for a good consultation with a range of people and to engage with different areas of the Council, as well as to allow for other work that the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Team was involved in; however, he advised that the team was not waiting until the review was finished to start making improvements to processes.

The Director of Policy, Performance and Reform reported that the Council used its Ethical Procurement Policy to require contractors to comply with its standards and that the Council was in discussion with other partners about this approach including

discussions with Greater Manchester partners on adopting a consistent approach to ethical procurement.

The Equalities Specialist advised Members that she would discuss the issue of accessible housing with colleagues in the housing service as part of the review.

In response to a Member's question, the Equalities Specialist informed Members that the Our Manchester Disability Plan Board and its Access Subgroup would be involved in the review. The Chair encouraged both Members and officers to consider, and to ask other stakeholders, whether there was anyone else who should be involved in this review.

Decision

To request that the Committee receive a further report after the Inclusive Design Round Table meeting in October 2020.

CESC/20/18 Equality Objectives 2020 - 2024

The Committee received a report of the City Solicitor which set out the Council's proposed equality objectives for the period 2020 - 2024. It outlined the approach that the Council had taken to setting these in the past and described the process that had been undertaken to ensure that the most recent set of objectives represented the priorities of Manchester residents and other stakeholders, as well as those of the Council. The report set out the objectives in draft form and provided an opportunity for the Committee to comment on these to influence further refinement of them before they were published by no later than 6 April 2020.

The report noted that, whilst the process of setting equality objectives did not directly demonstrate an impact on the achievement of the Council's zero-carbon target, the refresh of the draft objectives did take the opportunity to commit to more fully understanding the interaction of equality issues and environmental issues. It stated that the Council would complete EIAs against relevant aspects of its environmental programme, which would support this undertaking.

The main points and themes within the report included:

- Engagement on the Equality Objectives 2020 2024;
- Draft Equality Objectives 2020 2024;
- Monitoring and reporting progress; and
- Publicising the Equality Objectives.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were:

How progress would be monitored;

- That deprivation and poverty should be included in this work, in addition to the protected characteristics listed in the Equality Act 2010; and
- What work would be done to increase the proportion of Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) people in the Council's workforce and to improve representation in the Council's senior leadership.

The Director of Policy, Performance and Reform drew Members' attention to section 4 of the report, which outlined how progress would be monitored. He proposed that the Committee receive a report on an annual basis, which would provide both qualitative and quantitative evidence on progress made. A Member suggested that the Committee receive a progress report sooner than this, in order to check that the work was on track. The Chair advised that he would be happy for this item to be considered sooner.

The Executive Member for Neighbourhoods confirmed that the Council's work on equality and diversity went beyond the protected characteristics listed in the Equality Act 2010 and did include deprived communities. The Director of Policy, Performance and Reform drew Members' attention to the Council's Inclusive Growth Strategy and Family Poverty Strategy, which aimed to address issues of deprivation and poverty. He reported that there were actions which the Council was able to take to improve the life chances of people in more deprived communities but that some factors, such as the impact of welfare reform, were not fully within the Council's control, although the Council would try to mitigate their impact.

The Executive Member for Neighbourhoods informed Members about an Independent Race Review of the Council, reporting that this work was currently being finalised. He advised the Committee that the Council would need an action plan with short, medium and long-term actions to improve representation of both BAME people and disabled people at all levels. He stated that a report on this would be submitted to the relevant committee, which was likely to be either the Audit Committee or the Resources and Governance Scrutiny Committee.

Decision

To request a further report on how the Council was achieving these objectives.

CESC/20/19 Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Infrastructure Service

The Committee received a report of the Director of Policy, Performance and Reform which provided an update on the VCSE infrastructure service, specifically on the contract management arrangements put in place since October 2019.

The report stated that officers would work with Macc (the provider) to consider how the VCSE Infrastructure service contract could contribute to Manchester's ambitions to live within the city's science-based carbon budget and become a zero carbon city by 2038 at the latest.

Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report which included:

- Background information;
- The contract management framework; and
- Next steps.

The Committee discussed the proposals for future communication and engagement with Council Members set out at point 4.1 in the report, including the benefits of both larger sessions for a big group of Members and smaller meetings. Members supported the proposals but commented that two Members' briefings per year would be sufficient, rather than the three or four suggested in the report.

In response to a Member's question on the referral mechanism for local groups, Mike Wild from Macc advised the Committee that this was a proposal for Ward Councillors to be able to refer local groups to Macc for support and to provide Macc with useful information about the group. He offered to re-circulate the link for how to put groups in contact with Macc.

Decision

To support the proposals for communication and engagement with Members outlined in the report, while noting that two Members' briefings per year will be sufficient.

CESC/20/20 Community Events Funding and Applications

The Committee received a report of the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) which provided an update on the funding of Community Events and additional information related to applications to the Community Events Fund.

The report stated that recipients of Community Event Funding support were required to demonstrate a commitment to implementing a range of sustainable event practices as part of the management of their event in order to support the Council's carbon reduction target and work with the Council and partners to support Manchester in accelerating its efforts to encourage all residents, businesses and other stakeholders to take action on climate change. It also stated that it was a requirement that the Council's Sustainable Event Guide for Community Events was used as part of the planning, management and monitoring of sustainable practice and that this had been produced to help support community event organisers incorporate good practice into their event planning and delivery.

The main points and themes within the report included:

- Background information on Community Events Funding;
- Community Events Funding Programme 2019/20, including the allocation of funding; and
- 2020/21 Community Events Funding.

Some of the key points that arose from the Committee's discussions were:

- What was the rationale for the different amounts of funding allocated to each event:
- Were there any other sources of funding which could contribute to these events:
- That it would be useful in future to be provided with the reasons why applications had been declined;
- That some events were being funded every year, meaning that less funding was available to new groups to help them become established; and
- Funding for the Wythenshawe Games.

The Executive Member for Skills, Culture and Leisure reported that the Community Events Fund could be used to fund up to 20% of the overall budget of an event so, where larger amounts had been awarded, these were for higher cost events. He reported that events could cover the rest of their costs from a range of sources, including other funders, commercial income and sponsorship, and that the Council encouraged groups to try to increase their funding from other sources so that they needed less funding from the Council. The Events Lead informed Members that obtaining sustainable funding from other sources could be challenging but that there had been some successes, for example, event organisers obtaining alternative funding from the Arts Council. He advised Members that, where events had received funding from the Council every year for a number of years, this was because they met the criteria and this had been assessed as being justified.

The Executive Member for Skills, Culture and Leisure confirmed that information could be provided on the reasons for the declined applications. He advised the Committee that this Fund was for events which had a citywide remit so one of the reasons for declining applications was that they were for more local events. He informed Members that in some cases the Council supported unsuccessful groups to build their capacity to enable them to successfully obtain funding in future. He reported that, following an underspend on the MCRactive budget, this budget had been used to fund the Wythenshawe Games.

Decision

To note the report.

CESC/20/21 Overview Report

A report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit was submitted. The overview report contained a list of key decisions yet to be taken within the Committee's remit, responses to previous recommendations and the Committee's work programme, which the Committee was asked to approve.

The Chair noted that the Committee had requested a further report on the Peterloo Memorial and advised that he wanted to schedule this for when there was some substantial information to update the Committee on. He asked the Executive Member for Skills, Culture and Leisure to briefly outline the current position, including

when it was likely that there would be something substantial to report.

The Executive Member for Skills, Culture and Leisure reported that discussions had taken place with stakeholders to discuss options to make the Memorial accessible for disabled people but that, while over 20 options had been considered, the majority of these had not been viable. He advised the Committee that a couple of further options were now being explored in detail, for example, considering whether there was sufficient space available around the monument for the proposed design and whether it met with relevant regulations. He informed Members that, following this, a meeting would be held with all the stakeholders and an independent chair to identify the most acceptable option. He suggested that the Committee might want to receive a further report on this at its June 2020 meeting, when a more substantial update should be available.

Decision

To note the report and agree the work programme and to provisionally schedule the Peterloo Memorial report for the June 2020 meeting.

Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee

Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 11 March 2020

Present:

Councillor Hacking (Chair) – in the Chair Councillors Andrews, Chambers, Collins, M Dar, Doswell, Douglas, Grimshaw, Hitchen and Rawson

Also present:

Councillor Akbar, Executive Member for Neighbourhoods Councillor N Murphy, Deputy Leader

Apologies: Councillors Battle, Evans, Kirkpatrick and Rawlins

CESC/20/1 Call In: To make a Public Spaces Protection Order in respect of the City Centre for a maximum of 3 years

The Committee considered a call in of the decision taken by the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) relating to the decision to make a Public Space Protection Order in respect of the City Centre for a maximum of three years

The Call In had been proposed by Councillor Hacking, Chair of the Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee. Councillor Hacking informed the Committee that the reason he had called the decision in was to seek an assurance from the Strategic Director that the concerns raised by the Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 7 November 2019 in relation to the proposed PSPO for the City Centre had been taken fully into account prior to the decision being made.

The Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) responded to the concerns raised by the Chair. In doing so she advised that to enable the Council to enable its strategic objectives of a safe, clean and welcoming city centre the Council and the police used a wide range of informal and formal powers to protect the public and tackle crime and antisocial behaviour. These measures included community resolution, warnings, Acceptable Behaviour Agreements, Community Protection Notices, injunctions, dispersal powers, arrests, prosecution and Criminal Behaviour Orders, alongside appropriate offers of intervention and support. The use of these powers had enabled the Council and Police to address some of the ASB that occurred in the city, however there were limitations to these powers. Current powers did not always facilitate an appropriate response to some of the problems that were frequently reported in the City Centre, like urination and defecation, health and safety hazards caused by the erection of tents and obstruction of exits, and build-up of commercial waste on the city streets.

The Strategic Director commented that she felt satisfied that the conditions as set out in Section 59 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 had been met and that by introducing the PSPO it would prohibit certain activities or require specified activities to be carried out by persons to ensure compliance with the Order.

In order to make the decision, the Strategic Director advised that she had taken the following into consideration:-

- The evidence of the issues concerned'
- The consultation responses from the statutory consultation between 12 Feb to 8 April 2019, which included over 2000 responses; and
- The proposals for the PSPO presented to the Communities and Equalities Scrutiny Committee on 7 November 2019 and the associated feedback form Committee Members.

The Committees attention was drawn to two specific points that had been withdrawn from the original proposal. These were the removal of begging with associated ASB as either a prohibition or a requirement and at Article 7 in relation to the obstructions and erection of tents and structures had also been amended to ensure that this requirement was intended to address health and safety risks only.

The Strategic Director assured the Committee that in making the decision she had taken full account of the concerns that had been raised by the Committee at its meeting in November 2019 and the response to those matters were detailed in section 8 of the report. She also explained in making the decision, she had decided to include a six month review of the implementation and impact of the PSPO, which was not requirement of the provisions of the legislation and offered to bring a report back to this Committee in regards to this.

The Chair then invited the Committee to ask questions of the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods). Some of the key questions and points that were made by the Committee were:-

- It was felt that the proposals around displacement were weak and there was concern that there was no dedicated team or officer identified to implement the proposals;
- How would the commercial waste element of the PSPO be enforced and who would be attributed the blame of creating commercial waste, the employee or employer;
- What would the six month review of the PSPO cover;
- What analysis had been undertaken of the use of existing powers to determine
 that they were not sufficient to address the areas that the PSPO addressed and
 as part of the six month review it was requested that a breakdown of how
 effective and how often the PSPO had been used in comparison to existing
 powers was included;
- In relation to Article 6 (Health and/or safety risks obstruction), if there was a
 protest in the city and the highways were being blocked, who would the written
 order be served on;
- In relation to Article 7 (Health and safety risks obstruction), who would you serve a written order n if they were homeless,
- There was concern that there had been no consultation with wards that neighboured the city centre in respect of the proposals around displacement;
- How was Greater Manchester Police going to deliver the required training to its Officers to deal with displacements in neighbouring wards;

- What would happen if a person who was rough sleeping refused to move or was on private property;
- It was requested that a measure of adherence to the Equality Act was included in the six month review of the PSPO;
- What was the timeframe for the needle exchange review; and
- What consideration was given to the letter received by over 50 community and voluntary organisations who worked in partnership with the Council to combat homelessness and adhered to the homelessness charter.

The Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) advised that the PSPO would look to identify what support people, who were subject to displacement, needed through an existing strong multi agency partnership and it was clarified that it was not meant to be used in a punitive way and was part of a suite of tools and powers. It was acknowledged that displacement was not just confined to the City Centre and it was commented that there was a clear approach to addressing this across the city. What was proposed as part of the displacement article was to monitor carefully any issues that were directly arising from displacement.

In terms of commercial waste, it was reported that the PSPO would not be used in isolation to tackle this but it would however provide a more robust approach to addressing commercial waste which was not currently being achieved through existing powers. It was also confirmed that this would be enforced against the employer, not the employee and would not be enforced if the employer had complied with their contracted collection time but their waste had not been collected on time by their waste contractor. It was also confirmed that reporting back on the performance of the PSPO in regards to commercial waste could be reported back as part of the six month review.

The Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) advised that some existing powers did not go far enough in tackling particular issues, such as commercial waste and obstructions. The six month review of the PSPO would cover the implementation and impact of the PSPO in the City Centre but at the current moment in time the exact content was still being scoped.

The Committee was advised that if there was a protest in the City Centre, the PSPO legislation would not be used, but rather Public Order legislation and this was covered by the Police. In terms of obstructions from tents, this would not be a prohibition of the PSPO but a requirement and as such those causing an obstruction would be asked to move. The Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) clarified that the consultation on the PSPO had been available to everyone in the city and a number of responses had been received from groups and individuals in the city, not just the city centre.

It was clarified that the PSPO would only be operational within the City Centre and would not be used outside of the city centre boundary. The enforcement of displacement would be from a combination of Police Officers and Neighbourhood staff working in the city centre who would all be adequately trained. Having spoken to the Chief Superintendent for the City, it was envisaged that it would predominantly be city centre Neighbourhood Beat Officers who would be trained to use these

powers. Again it was reiterated that the PSPO would not be used in isolation but rather as a suite of powers. As it had not been considered to use the PSPO anywhere outside of the City Centre it was explained that there was a requirement to train staff who worked outside of the city centre and in terms of displacement there were teams of people who worked across the city to tackle anti social behaviour.

Officers explained that the first step in dealing with rough sleepers would be to try and engage with the individual, find out who they were and what support they needed.to try and identify if they were already known or engaging with services. Only if this approach was unsuccessful or where someone continued to engage in anti social behaviour or cause an hazard by obstruction would enforcement action then be considered. It was also reported that powers would still be able to be used on private land that was publically accessible.

The Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) advised that she would ask the Director of Population Health to share information on the needle exchange review. Furthermore she advised that if the letter from the voluntary and community organisations was received as part of the consultation it was taken into consideration alongside all other responses received

A member of the Committee sought clarification as to what power the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) had in respect of incorporating any recommendations that the Committee may ask that she took into account if asked by the Committee to reconsider the decision. The Chair provided clarification of what options the Committee had in terms of determining what it could do in terms of dealing with the Call In, and if it was minded to refer the decision back to the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods), she would be required to give consideration to any recommendations put forward but was not obliged to accept them.

After all questions were asked, the Chair proposed a five minute adjournment

On the recommencement of the meeting, it was proposed to refer the decision back to the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) with the following recommendations:-

- That as part of the six month review, this was to include information and data on homelessness and information and data on commercial waste;
- That in relation to displacement, consideration be given to establishing a dedicated Officer or Team to deal with any displacements arising from the implementation of the PSPO; and
- That the enforcement of the PSPO should only be done by Police Officers or Council Staff who had received the necessary training to implement the PSPO;

Decisions

The Committee:

- (1) Agrees to refer the decision back to the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) with the following recommendations
 - That as part of the six month review, this was to include information and data on homelessness and information and data on commercial waste;

- That in relation to displacement, consideration be given to establishing a dedicated Officer or Team to deal with any displacements arising from the implementation of the PSPO; and
- That the enforcement of the PSPO should only be done by Police Officers or Council Staff who had received the necessary training to implement the PSPO.
- (2) Requests that the Strategic Director (Neighbourhoods) when scoping the content of the six month review of the PSPO, the additional points and areas raised by the Committee in its discussions is taken into account and included where possible; and
- (3) Requests that the six month review is reported back to a future meeting of this committee, the precise date to be agreed in consultation with the Chai.r